

ADOPTED JULY 1, 1985
AMENDED JANUARY 14, 1988
AMENDED MAY 11, 1989
AMENDED DECEMBER 1989
AMENDED JULY 12, 1990
AMENDED AS OF APRIL 14, 1994
AMENDED AS OF FEBRUARY 11, 1999
AMENDED JUNE 29, 2006
AMENDED MARCH 25, 2010

BY-LAWS
OF
ROOSEVELT ISLAND OPERATING CORPORATION

ARTICLE ITHE CORPORATION

Section 1. Description. The Roosevelt Island Operating Corporation (the "Corporation") is a body corporate and politic constituting a public benefit corporation and a political subdivision of the State of New York, created and having the powers and functions set forth in Chapter 899 of the Laws of 1984, as amended (the Roosevelt Island Operating Corporation Act) ("the Act").

Section 2. Offices. The principal office of the Corporation shall be located on Roosevelt Island, in the City, County, State of New York. The Corporation may also have offices at such other place or places within the State of New York as it may from time to time designate by resolution of its Board of Directors.

Section 3. Seal. The official seal of the Corporation shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the name of the Corporation and the year of its creation. Such seal may also include such other insignia as may be approved by the Corporation.

ARTICLE IIDIRECTORS

Section 1. Number. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by a Board of nine (9) directors that shall exercise all of the powers of the Corporation. The elected public officials who represent Roosevelt Island shall be representatives to the Board of Directors of the Corporation entitled to receive notice of and attend all meetings of such Board, but shall not be entitled to vote.

Section 2. Chairperson. The Commissioner of Housing and Community Renewal (the "Commissioner") shall be the Chairperson of the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Terms of Office. The selection of members of the Board of Directors and their tenures shall be as set forth in Section 3.2 of the Act.

Section 4. Property Interest of Directors. No director of the Corporation shall have any right, title or interest in or to any property or assets of the Corporation, either prior to or at the time of any liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation.

Section 5. Non-Liability for Debts. The private property of any director shall be exempt from execution or other liability for any debts of the Corporation and no director shall be liable or responsible for any debts or liabilities of the Corporation. Pursuant to Section 8 of the Act, the State shall indemnify and hold harmless the officers and directors of the Corporation from all liability as a result of their performance or non-performance of their duties with respect to the development, management or operation of Roosevelt Island.

Section 6. Compensation. A member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation is entitled to reimbursement for his or her actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of his or her official duties as a member. No director may receive any other salary or compensation for his or her services.

Section 7. Removal. Any member of the Board of Directors may be removed by the Governor for cause, after opportunity to be heard upon not less than 10 days notice.

ARTICLE III

MEETINGS

Section 1. Meetings. Meetings of the directors may be called by the Chairperson or upon request of three (3) or more of the directors and it shall thereupon be the duty of the Secretary to cause notice of such meeting to be given as hereinafter provided. The Chairperson or the directors calling the meeting shall fix the time for the holding of the meeting. All meetings shall be at the office of the

Corporation or at such other place as the Board or the Chairperson may designate.

Section 2. Notice. Written notice of the time, place and purpose of any meeting of the directors shall be delivered to each director by the Secretary, if personally or by telefacsimile at least seventy-two hours prior thereto or if by mail at least ten days prior thereto. Written notices of all directors' meetings shall be delivered to the elected public officials who represent Roosevelt Island, as representatives to the board of directors, not less than two days prior thereto if delivered personally or five days prior thereto if delivered by mail. Failure to give notice to public officials shall not affect the validity of any action taken at a meeting. Any notices mailed hereunder shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in the United States mail addressed to the director, or representative, at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Corporation, with postage thereon prepaid.

Section 3. Quorum and Voting. A majority of the members of the Board then in office shall constitute a quorum; provided that if less than a majority of the directors is present at any meeting, the directors present may adjourn the meeting; and provided further that the Secretary shall notify any absent directors of the time and place of such adjourned meeting. Any action taken by the Board shall be taken by a majority vote of the directors then in office.

Section 4. Order of Business. At the regular meetings of the Corporation the following shall be the order of business.

1. Call to Order.
2. Roll Call.
3. Approval of the minutes of the previous meeting. A copy of the minutes of the previous meeting shall be sent to each director not later than ten business days in advance of the meeting at which the same are to be considered, and, if no corrections or amendments are made therein, shall be deemed approved.
4. Old Business.
5. New Business.

6. Adjournment.

Section 5. Resolutions to be in Writing. All proposed resolutions shall be presented in writing to the directors present and, upon adoption, each resolution shall be copied in or attached to the minutes of the meeting.

Section 6. Manner of Voting. Voting on all questions at meetings shall be by roll call, and the yeas and nays shall be entered upon the minutes of such meeting, except that the election of officers may be by majority vote without the necessity of recording the individual votes upon the minutes.

Section 7. Approval of Resolutions without Meeting. Resolutions, which the Chairperson desires to be considered by the directors without holding a meeting thereon may be delivered in person or mailed to the business or home address of each director, and upon the written approval of such resolutions by a majority of the directors then in office, and less than three members dissenting, the same shall become effective as if introduced and passed at a meeting of the directors duly called and held.

Section 8. Proxies. Only the Commissioner of the Division of Housing and Community Renewal and the Director of the Budget may designate an officer or employee of such director's respective division to represent such director at meetings of the Board. Such designation shall be by written notice, filed with the Chairperson and Secretary of the Corporation, and may be revoked at any time by similar notice. Any representative designated hereunder shall be notified of all meetings of the Board and shall have the power to attend and vote at such meetings. However, the director making the designation may attend and vote at any meeting in place and stead of the designated representative.

Section 9. Waiver of Notice. Any director of the Board may waive in a signed writing any notice of a meeting required to be given by these By-Laws before or after such meeting, or at such meeting if such director shall be present at such meeting. The attendance of a director or representative to the Board at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting by such director except in case a director shall attend a meeting and, prior thereto or at the commencement thereof, protest the lack of notice to him or

her. Notice of an adjourned meeting need not be given to any director present at the time of adjournment.

ARTICLE IV

OFFICERS

Section 1. Appointment. The officers of the Corporation shall be the Chairperson as provided in the Act, the President and Chief Executive Officer, the Vice President, the Chief Fiscal Officer, the Secretary, the Assistant Secretary, and the Treasurer, and such other officers or deputies of officers as may be determined by the Board from time to time to perform such duties as may be designated by the Board. None of the officers of the Corporation need be members of the Board unless otherwise required by applicable law. A person who is otherwise qualified may hold more than one office.

Section 2. Election and Term of Office. Except as otherwise provided in the Act, the officers shall be elected by resolution at a regular meeting of the Board. Each officer shall hold office, unless removed, until his or her successor shall have been elected. Except as otherwise provided in the Act, a vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board.

Section 3. Removal of Offices by Directors. Any officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the Board whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served thereby.

Section 4. Chairperson. The Chairperson shall preside at the meetings of the Directors. In addition, the Chairperson shall take a lead in the Board's oversight role, which includes setting the Board's agenda, managing the flow of information to the Board, coordinating the work of the Board's committees and serving as the primary liaison between the Board and senior management.

Section 5. President and Chief Executive Officer. The President and Chief Executive Officer:

- (a) shall be responsible for the discharge of the executive and administrative functions and powers of the Corporation, and shall supervise and control the business and affairs of the Corporation;
- (b) may sign any deeds, mortgages, deeds of trust, notes, bonds, contracts or other instruments authorized by the Board to be executed, except in cases in which the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board, or by these By-Laws, to some other officer or agent of the Corporation, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed; and
- (c) shall in general perform all duties incident to the office of President and Chief Executive Officer.

Section 6. Vice President. In the absence of the President and Chief Executive Officer or in the event of his or her inability or refusal to act, the Vice President:

- (a) shall perform the duties of the President and Chief Executive Officer;
- (b) the Vice President shall also perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Board.

Section 7. Secretary. The Secretary shall:

- (a) keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board in one or more books provided for that purpose;
- (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with these By-Laws or as required by Law;
- (c) be custodian of the records of the Corporation;
- (d) keep a register of the names and post office addresses of all members of the board of directors and all of the elected officials who are representatives to the Board;

- (e) have general charge of the books of the Corporation;
- (f) keep on file at all times a complete copy of the Act and By-Laws of the Corporation containing all amendments thereto; and
- (g) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary, and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to her or him by the Board.

Section 8. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall, subject to the guidance and direction of the President and Chief Executive Officer:

- (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Corporation;
- (b) be responsible for the receipt of and the issuance of receipts for all monies due and payable to the Corporation and for the deposit of all such monies in the name of Corporation in such bank or banks, trust companies or other depositories, as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws;
- (c) act as controller of the Corporation and shall be in charge of the books and accounts, the accounting procedures and financial operations of the Corporation, and
- (d) in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer, and such other duties as from time to time be assigned to her or him by the Board or President.

Section 9. Compensation. The powers, duties and compensation, if any, of officers and employees shall be fixed by the Board, subject to the provisions of applicable laws and these By-Laws. No Chairperson who is also the President and Chief Executive Officer shall participate in determining the level of compensation or reimbursement, or time and attendance rules for the position of the President and Chief Executive Officer.

ARTICLE VFINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS

Section 1. Approval of Activities. All of the activities of the Corporation shall be and remain subject to the supervision and control of the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Contracts. Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, the Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, in addition to the officers so authorized by these By-Laws, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

Section 3. Checks, Drafts, Etc.. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, and all notes, bonds or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent or agents, employee or employees of the Corporation in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board. In the absence of such determination by the Board, such instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer and countersigned by the President of the Corporation.

Section 4. Deposits. All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such bank or banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board may select.

Section 5. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall mean a twelve month period commencing April 1st of each and every year and shall end on the following March 31st.

Section 6. Gifts. The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Corporation any contribution, gift, bequest or devise for the general purposes or any special purpose of the Corporation.

Section 7. Loans. The Board of Directors shall not, directly or indirectly, including through a subsidiary, extend or maintain credit, arrange for the extension of credit, or renew an extension of credit, in the form of a personal loan to or for any officer, board member or employee of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VI

BOOKS, RECORDS, AUDITS AND REVIEWS

Section 1. Books and Records. The Corporation shall keep correct and complete books, records and accounts and shall also keep minutes of the proceedings of the Board of Directors, and shall keep at the registered or principal office a record giving the names and addresses of the directors. All books and records of the Corporation may be inspected by the New York State Department of Audit and Control.

Section 2. Audits. The Corporation shall annually cause an audit to be performed by an independent certified public accountant.

ARTICLE VII

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 1. Defense and Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Employees of the Corporation. The Corporation confers the benefits of Section 18 of the Public Officers Law upon its directors, officers and employees and shall be held liable for the costs incurred under such provisions.

ARTICLE VIII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 1. Rules and Regulations. The Board shall have power to make and adopt such rules and regulations not inconsistent with law, the Act, or these By-Laws, as it may deem advisable for the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation.

Section 2. Standing and Advisory Committees. The Board of Directors shall, by resolution, establish a governance committee and an audit committee as standing committees, and by resolution, establish other standing and advisory committees. The purposes of these committees are to be specified in their adopting resolution. Standing and advisory committees shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. At least one member of the Board of Directors shall be appointed by the chairperson with the consent of the Board of Directors. Under no circumstances may the number of Directors serving on any standing or advisory committee be equal to the number of Directors needed for a quorum of a meeting of the Board of Directors then in office.

Section 3. Governance Committee. The governance committee shall be comprised of not less than three Directors who (1) are each independent, as such term is defined in Section 2825 of the Public Authorities Law; (2) shall constitute a majority on the committee; and (3) shall possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the governance committee; provided, however, that in the event that the Board has less than three independent members, the Board may appoint non-independent members to the governance committee, provided that independent members must constitute a majority of the members of the governance committee. It shall be the responsibility of the governance committee to keep the Board of Directors informed of current best governance practices; to review corporate governance trends; to recommend updates to the Corporation's corporate governance principles; to advise appointing authorities on the skills and experiences required of potential Board members; to examine ethical and conflict of interest issues; to perform Board self-evaluations; and to recommend by-laws which include rules and procedures for conduct of Board business.

Section 4. Audit Committee. The audit committee shall be comprised of not less than three Directors who (1) are each independent, as such term is defined in Section 2825 of the Public Authorities Law; (2) shall constitute a majority of such committee; and (3) shall possess the necessary skills to understand the duties and functions of the audit committee; provided, however, that in the event that the Board has less than three independent members, the Board may appoint non-independent members to the audit committee, provided that independent members must constitute a majority of the members of the audit

committee. The committee shall recommend to the Board of Directors the hiring of a certified independent accounting firm for the Corporation, establish the compensation to be paid to the accounting firm and provide direct oversight of the performance of the independent audit performed by the accounting firm hired for such purposes. Members of the audit committee shall be familiar with corporate financial and accounting practices.

ARTICLE IX

AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS

The By-Laws may be altered, amended, or repealed by a majority of the directors then in office at any meeting, provided notice of such meeting shall have contained a copy of the proposed alteration, amendment or repeal, or such requirement shall have been duly waived by all directors.

BYLAWS.10